# International Journal of Women's Dermatology 6 (2020) 357-364

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# ELSEVIER

International Journal of Women's Dermatology

International Journal of Women's Dermatology

WDS

# Review The possible role of oral microbiome in autoimmunity

Matina Zorba DDS, MSc<sup>a,\*</sup>, Angeliki Melidou Bsc, MSc, PhD<sup>b</sup>, Aikaterini Patsatsi MD, MSc, PhD<sup>c</sup>, Eleftheria Ioannou<sup>d</sup>, Alexandros Kolokotronis DDS, MD, PhD<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Oral Medicine and Maxillofacial Pathology, School of Dentistry, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

<sup>b</sup> Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

<sup>c</sup> Second Dermatology Department of Papageorgiou General Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

<sup>d</sup> Department of Biological Applications and Technology, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 20 February 2020 Received in revised form 15 July 2020 Accepted 28 July 2020

Keywords: Dysbiosis Oral microbiome Autoimmunity Autoimmune bullous diseases Next generation sequencing

# ABSTRACT

*Objective:* The human microbiome refers to the entire habitat, including microorganisms, their genomes and the surrounding environmental conditions of the microbial ecosystem. When the equilibrium between microbial habitats and host is disturbed, dysbiosis is caused. The oral microbiome (OMB) has been implicated in the manifestation of many intra- and extraoral diseases. Lately, there has been an intense effort to investigate and specify the relationship between microbial complexes, especially that of the oral cavity and intestine and autoimmunity. This study aimed to review the current literature about the possible role of the OMB in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases.

*Methods:* We searched for published articles in English indexed in PubMed, Medline, Research Gate and Google Scholar using a search strategy that included terms for oral microbiome, autoimmune diseases, dysbiosis and next-generation sequencing.

*Results:* An important number of articles were gathered and used for the description of the possible impact of dysbiosis of OMB in the pathogenesis of Sjögren's syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, Behcet's disease, Crohn's disease and psoriasis.

*Conclusion:* This review article draws attention to the relationship between OMB and the triggering of a number of autoimmune diseases. Although this specific topic has been previously reviewed, herein, the authors review recent literature regarding the full list of nosological entities related to the OMB, point out the interaction between the microbiome and sex hormones with regard to their role in autoimmunity and discuss novel and promising therapeutic approaches for systemic autoimmune diseases. Furthermore, the question arises of whether the OMB is associated with oral bullous autoimmune diseases.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of Women's Dermatologic Society. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### Contents

Introduction	
Defining the human microbiome	358
Dysbiosis	358
Microbiome and autoimmunity	
Oral microbiome and autoimmune diseases	
Sjögren's syndrome	
Rheumatoid arthritis	359
Behcet's disease	
Crohn's disease	
Systemic lupus erythematosus	
Psoriasis	

\* Corresponding author.

*E-mail address:* zormpam@gmail.com (M. Zorba).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijwd.2020.07.011

2352-6475/© 2020 Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of Women's Dermatologic Society.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Microbiome and autoimmune bullous diseases	361
Techniques of microbiome study	362
Interaction between microbiome and sex hormones	362
Microbiome shift and therapeutic interventions	362
Conclusion	362
Conflicts of Interest	363
Funding	363
Study Approval	363
References	363

# Introduction

# Defining the human microbiome

The term "microbial flora" refers to the entirety of the microorganisms that exist in the human body, including opportunistic, commensal and pathogenic. This term refers to the population of microorganisms that inhabit the skin surface and its deeper layers, saliva, oral mucosa, upper respiratory tract, gastrointestinal and urogenital tracts and the conjunctiva. Each of these human body sites has its own unique microbial flora (Davis, 1996; Dong et al., 2011; Grice et al., 2009; Ley et al., 2006; Martin, 2012). The term "microbiome" is used to describe the entire habitat, including the microorganisms, their genomes and the surrounding environmental conditions of the respective complex microbial ecosystem (Turnbaugh et al., 2007). The concept of the human microbiome was first suggested by Lederberg and McCray (2001), who coined the term "microbiome" to emphasize the significance of human body colonization by host microorganisms in both healthy and diseased individuals.

The human microbial flora, principally that of the gut, is estimated to consist of 10 to 100 trillion commensal microorganisms (Ursell et al., 2012). Only 10% of the cells detected in the human body actually have human origin. The overwhelming majority, 90%, is part of the microbial flora (Ley et al., 2006). The oral cavity offers an ideal environment for the colonization and growth of microorganisms because it provides warmth, humidity and nutritional abundance. This results in hundreds of microorganisms, including viruses, protozoa, fungi, archaea and bacteria, that constitute the oral microbiome (OMB), making it the second most complex microbiome in the human body (Dewhirst et al., 2010; Human Microbiome Project, 2012). Nearly 1000 species of bacteria can be detected in the oral cavity. Specifically, >750 species of bacteria have been identified with culture-independent methods and >250 species have been isolated, cultured and characterized (Paster et al., 2006). Saliva, oral mucosa and tooth surfaces are the three available sites in the human mouth for microbial colonization, leading to the formation of respective microbiomes. The composition of the microbiome displays significant diversity in different oral sites, even in neighboring ones such as the subgingival and supragingival dental plaque and the dorsal or lateral surface of the tongue (Ahn et al., 2012). These differences are probably due to variants of intrinsic and extrinsic factors, such as stress and smoking, respectively (Pozhitkov et al., 2011).

#### Dysbiosis

Commensal microorganisms play a central role in maintaining homeostasis and health, not only by blocking microbial activity but also by reinforcing the human immune system through specialized mechanisms (Kau et al., 2011). The dynamic interaction between these microorganisms and the organism is both continuous and balanced and it is performed to such a degree that the host human organism could be described as a superorganism

(Goodacre, 2007). However, the influence of various external factors could lead to microbial imbalance on or inside the body. causing so-called dysbiosis. In this situation, the microbial colonies involved lose their ability to control each other's population development, which results in the gradual prevalence of one or more colonies and can have a pathogenic effect on the organism (Tamboli et al., 2004). Furthermore, whereas under normal conditions of equilibrium, the organism (through waste disposal mechanisms) can easily dispose of the bioproducts of microbial colonies, in cases of an imbalanced dramatic development of microbial colonies, the large amount of microbial waste can negatively affect the human organism, which can no longer easily dispose of these products (Carding et al., 2015). Some factors implicated in dysbiosis include the genotype of the host, a Western way of life, nutrition, irrational use of antibiotics in medicine and agriculture, excessive adherence to hygiene rules and alcohol abuse (Spor et al., 2011). This phenomenon takes place most often in the intestinal microbiome as well as in the OMB, causing a number of diseases (Karczewski et al., 2014).

A dysbiotic shift of oral host microorganisms triggers disease entities, such as dental caries, periodontal diseases, peri-implant inflammation and halitosis (Pozhitkov et al., 2011; Wade, 2013). There are oral bacteria that prevent pathogenic colonization (colonization resistance). When these bacteria are eliminated, a serious possibility exists of triggering opportunistic infections. Also, the antagonistic or synergistic interaction between commensalpathogenic microorganisms is widely accepted to be more likely to be implicated in eliciting oral diseases than the presence or absence of particular bacterial species (He et al., 2015). Furthermore, unlike other infections, the induction of many oral diseases requires the combined effect of more than one etiological agent of infection (Alcaraz et al., 2012).

Aside from the aforementioned oral diseases, studies have investigated the link between the OMB and systemic and distant diseases. In some cases, the OMB was evaluated as playing a possible etiological role in certain systemic disease, whereas in others it was thought to be the result (Table 1).

#### Microbiome and autoimmunity

Recent epidemiologic and clinical reports have described a dramatic increase in the incidence of several autoimmune and inflammatory diseases in the developed world. Although the aforementioned diseases exhibit a strong genetic component, the rapidity of the increase cannot be explained solely by genetic drift. Accumulating research evidence suggests that this instead might be the result of host-microorganism equilibrium disturbance (Macia et al., 2012; Myasoedova et al., 2010). Environment, including microorganisms, plays a major role in shaping the immune system and accounts for the heterogeneity of immunologic parameters among individuals. The fact that autoimmune diseases affect some people and not others is partly based on this heterogeneity (Brodin et al., 2015). M. Zorba et al. / International Journal of Women's Dermatology 6 (2020) 357-364

Table 1					
Link bet	ween (	OMB an	d syste	emic c	liseases.

Nosological entity	Links to OMB
Tumor	OMB is similar among patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma and different from that of healthy individuals (Macia et al., 2012)
Candiauaaulan diaaaaa	High levels of <i>S. mitis</i> and <i>N. elongata</i> in the salivary microbiome of patients with malignancy of the pancreas (Farrell et al., 2012)
Cardiovascular diseases	Oral bacteria Can cause infective endocardins (Mylonakis and Calderwood, 2001) Oral bacteria Strantococcus Veillongila, Bornhyromonge gingiugalis, Eucohoctarium nucleatum Tanneralla forsuthia and Neisseria detected in
	of a bacteria streptoceas ventoria, roppyronoma gingivias, rasobacteriam naterataria, rainerena jorgyna and reissena detecteria in atheressena concerta in a streptoceas ventorias in the streptoceas and reisseria levels were related to plasma cholesterol levels (Koren et al. 2011).
Cerebral or hepatic abscesses	Oral bacteria found in abscesses (Marques da Silva et al., 2004; Schiff et al., 2003)
Cystic fibrosis	Oral bacteria identified in lungs of patients with cystic fibrosis (Rogers et al., 2006)
Miscarriage or low-weight infant	Oral bacteria identified in the uterus of women who miscarried or had preterm birth (Mitchell-Lewis et al., 2001)
Obesity	Higher levels of Selenomonas noxia found in the saliva of overweight women (Goodson et al., 2009)

OMB, oral microbiome.

Until recently, the prevailing theory of autoimmunity proposed that the body attacks the self, which was considered to be sterile. However, recent research has shifted its focus to studying the connection between autoimmunity and microbes (Proal et al., 2013). Consequently, dysbiosis is not only a biomarker of inflammatory diseases, but also the initiator of autoimmune reactions (Honda and Littman, 2012).

Advanced technologies for microbiome analysis have contributed over recent years to the establishment of its involvement in several autoimmune diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), Type 1 diabetes, ankylosing spondylarthritis, psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), Sjögren's syndrome (SS), Crohn's disease (CD), Behcet disease (BD), multiple sclerosis, giant cell arteritis and Kawasaki disease (Coit and Sawalha, 2016).

The microbiome influences the host immune system through various factors and mechanisms. The constitutive stimulation of Toll-like receptors, pathogen persistence, molecular mimicry and epitope spreading are some of these mechanisms. Microbes can also cause epigenetic changes that include changes in gene function through DNA methylation, posttranslational histone modification and micro-RNA alteration without changes in DNA sequence (Nikitakis et al., 2017).

# Oral microbiome and autoimmune diseases

# Sjögren's syndrome

SS is a systemic chronic autoimmune disease, characterized by B-cell hyperactivity, which produces antibodies and by lymphocytic infiltration of the exocrine glands resulting in their destruction. Salivary and lacrimal glands are primarily attacked, leading to a significant reduction in saliva and tear production, which subsequently leads to the two most prominent symptoms of the disease: oral and ocular dryness, respectively. The disease occurs nine times more often in women than in men, with a peak of occurrence in the menopausal age group. SS is divided into primary and secondary forms, with the secondary occurring along with other autoimmune diseases, such as SLE or RA (Mavragani and Moutsopoulos, 2014).

Hyposalivation in patients with SS has been associated with an increased number of species of the genus *Candida*, as well as an increase in the number of *S. mutans*, species of the genus *Lactobacillus* (e.g., *Lactobacillus* spp on tooth surfaces). This is clinically relevant because reduced salivary secretion, which serves a protective function for the oral cavity, predisposes to the development of caries (typically cervical) and oral candidiasis (Almstahl et al., 2003; Shinozaki et al., 2012).

However, a study using high throughput sequencing of 16S rRNA revealed a shift in OMB in patients with SS who had normal

salivation flow compared with healthy controls. On the phylum level, Firmicutes had a significantly higher frequency in patients, but Synergistetes and Spirochaetes were significantly depleted in SS. On the genus level, *Streptococcus* and *Veillonella* displayed about a two-fold increase in patients with SS. Finally, on the species level, the *Veillonella atypica* and *Veillonella parvula* groups dominated in patients, whereas *Prevotella melaninogenica* was the major species in controls. In general, the microbiome demonstrated a lower diversity and richness in patients, where a depletion of nearly 17% in the number of genera was detected. This study showed that dysbiosis of the OMB is a key characteristic of SS and can occur independently of hyposalivation (Siddigui et al., 2016).

In most studies that analyzed the composition of the OMB in patients with SS, researchers included patients with SS who had dry mouth, controls with dry mouth without SS and healthy controls. Rusthen et al. (2019) used 16S rRNA gene sequencing to analyze the saliva microbiome in patients with SS, non-SS sicca patients and healthy controls. The total result of the study indicated a significantly different microbiome composition in patients with SS compared with the non-SS group and healthy controls, pointing out that hyposalivation is not the only reason for microbiome diversity in SS.

Li et al. (2016) analyzed buccal mucosa microflora using high throughput sequencing and found a relative abundance of *Proteobacteria* in the SS group, specifically of the genus *Ralstonia* and a lower diversity of microbiome composition in patients with primary SS compared with healthy individuals. De Paiva et al. (2016) examined the microbiome of the tongue in patients with primary SS, who were found to have a decrease in *Leptotrichia* KOL *Fusobacterium* and an increase in *Streptococcus* species. On the other hand, van der Meulen et al. (2018) used 16S rRNA sequencing and suggested that dysbiosis of the buccal mucosa microbiome in patients with SS resembles that of controls who had dry mouth but no SS.

Szymula et al. (2014) are the only researchers who have studied the role of bacteria in SS development. They found that a microbial protein (von Willebrand factor type A) that carries the peptide Ro60 and is present in the commensal oral bacteria *Capnocytophaga ochracea* could activate T cells with a receptor for Ro60 (SSA) through dendritic cells. SSA autoantibodies might be produced when the activated Ro60-reactive T cells in turn activate B cells to become plasma cells. If next-generation sequencing (NGS) methods for analyzing the OMB in patients with SS reveal an increased relative abundance of *C. ochracea* in the oral cavity, then the microbiome–SS connection could be explained by the molecular mimicry theory whereby immune cells react with selfantigens, which share epitopes with foreign antigens produced by microorganisms (Cusick et al., 2012).

#### Rheumatoid arthritis

RA is a chronic systemic disease of the synovial joints and is characterized by inflammation, hyperplasia and the production of autoantibodies, such as the rheumatoid factor and anticirtrullinated protein antibodies (ACPAs). The result is symmetric polyarthritis, characterized by the destruction of cartilage and bone (McInnes and Schett, 2011). Both genetic and environmental factors contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease. However, the low concordance rate of RA in monozygotic twins indicates that environmental factors play a major role in disease development (Sakkas et al., 2014).

The OMB may be considered as an environmental factor. There is substantial evidence to suggest that the periodontal pathogens *Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans* and *Porphyromonas gingivalis* are regarded as autoimmunity triggers for RA. Moreover, periodontium may be a triggering site. Patients with RA have been found to have a higher prevalence of periodontitis compared with healthy individuals (Fuggle et al., 2016). *A. actinomycetemcomitans* secrets leukotoxin A, which forms pores on the neutrophil membranes, leading to neutrophil hypercitrullination, which in turn results in the release of citrullinated autoantigens in the gums. Research has shown that 47% of patients with RA had a previous *A. actinomycetemcomitans* infection compared with 11% in controls (Konig et al., 2016).

*P. gingivalis* has also been found to lead to citrullinated autoantigens and ACPA production in two different ways: By way of peptidyl arginine deiminases, it can cleave proteins at arginine residues and cirtullinate those residues to produce more autoantigens to which the host immune system is exposed and by neutrophil extracellular trap (NET) formation induced during the process of NETosis. ACPAs induce NETosis; this, in turn, provides citrullinated autoantigens (Guo et al., 2018; Socransky et al., 1998).

ACPA levels have been observed to be significantly higher in people with subgingival *P. gingivalis* and have a positive correlation with levels of antibodies against the specific bacterium, which have been found to be elevated in patients with RA (Mikuls et al., 2014). Conversely, a study of the subgingival plaque microbiome in patients with new onset and chronic RA as well as healthy controls showed no difference in composition. Also, species of *Prevotella* and *Leptotrichia* were characteristic of patients with new-onset RA, regardless of periodontal disease severity. Finally, *P. gingivalis* was found in almost equal abundance in both patients with new-onset and chronic RA as well as healthy controls (Scher et al., 2012). Consequently, although based on research findings, the role of *P. gingivalis* in the pathogenesis of RA is still in question and periodontal treatment as an adjuvant for RA drug therapy significantly reduces the severity of the disease clinical course (Erciyas et al., 2013).

Apart from the relationship between periopathogens and RA, recent evidence draws attention to the changes and decreased diversity of the rest of the OMB as a key player in the etiopathogenesis of RA. The link between OMB and RA in animal models of arthritis has been established and is now receiving increasing attention in human studies (Drago et al., 2019). Zhang et al. (2015) examined the salivary and dental plaque metagenome of patients with RA and observed significant differences in the microbial composition in comparison with healthy controls. Patients with RA showed an abundance of Veillonella and anaerobic species, such as Lactobacillus salivarius and Atopobium species, whereas controls were enriched in Haemophilus species, aerobic species and P. gingivalis. Furthermore, the use of antirheumatic drugs increased the abundance of some underrepresented taxa in patients with RA compared with healthy controls, indicating possible participation of microbes in ameliorating the symptoms of the disease.

#### Behcet's disease

BD is a rare multisystemic, autoinflammatory, immunemediated vasculitis that causes blood vessel inflammation. Originally, BD was seen along the Silk Road, but due to immigration, the disease is now found worldwide. BD may manifest with a triple-symptom complex of recurrent oral aphthus ulcerations, genital ulcers and uveitis. Oral aphthus represents the initial clinical sign of the disease in >80% of cases (Bulur and Onder, 2017). This high percentage of oral involvement leads to speculation that the oral environment may participate importantly in the etiopathogenesis of the disease, which remains unclear to date.

Bacterial involvement has long been suggested as a potential etiologic factor for BD. Studies concerning cutaneous and conjunctival microbiota and the serum of patients with BD previously indicated an association between some streptococcal species and BD (Lehner et al., 1991; Narikawa et al., 1995; Yokota et al., 1995). In more recent studies, the administration of antibiotics or probiotics had an impact either on the duration and extent or the frequency of clinical signs and symptoms of BD (Alpsoy, 2012; Consolandi et al., 2015).

Seoudi et al. (2015) were the first to examine the salivary and oral mucosal microbiota from ulcer sites of patients with BD. They compared the results with those of nonulcer sites in the same patient, healthy controls and recurrent aphthus ulcers. They found increased colonization with Rothia denticariosa of the nonulcer sites of BS, high colonization with Streptococcus salivarius of ulcer sites compared with recurrent aphthus ulcers and high colonization with Streptococcus sanguinis of ulcer sites compared with healthy controls. Moreover, they found depleted colonization with Neisseria and Veillonella of ulcer and nonulcer sites compared with healthy controls. The salivary microbiota of patients with active BS was significantly colonized with Bifidobacterium dentium, Prevotella histicola and Candida albicans and less frequently colonized with Campylobacter concisus, Clostridiales spp., Fusobacterium periodonticum, Gemella sanguinis, Neisseria spp. and Oribacterium sinus compared with that of healthy controls.

In another study, Coit et al. (2016) investigated the salivary microbiome in patients with BD using high-throughput sequencing of the 16S rRNA V4 region and compared the results with those of healthy controls and saliva samples from patients with BD after dental and periodontal treatment. The microbial community structure had a significantly decreased diversity compared with that of the controls, with *Haemophilus parainfluenzae* and *Alloprevotella* showing an overabundance. For the subset of patients who had root scaling and dental care, there was no significant change in the diversity of salivary microbiota.

#### Crohn's disease

CD is a type of chronic inflammatory bowel disease, along with ulcerative colitis (UC). It is characterized by the development of granulomatous inflammation at any part of the gastrointestinal tract from the mouth to the anus but most commonly affects the colon and terminal ileum. CD can occur at any age, with a peak incidence during the second and third decade of life. In the United States, the prevalence is estimated at 58 per 100,000 children and 119-241 per 100,000 adults and is increasing for both groups (Veauthier and Hornecker, 2018). Clinical signs and symptoms depend on the location of the lesions. Oral manifestations appear in a percentage ranging from 0.5% to 50% and are more common in men and children. Manifestations can include a wide variety of lesions, from nonspecific minor aphthous lesions, mucogingivitis and angular cheilitis to more specific lesions, such as cobble-stone mucosal appearance, mucosal tags, pyostomatitis vegetans, deep linear ulcerations and swelling of the face (mainly lips) known as orofacial granulomatosis (Muhvić-Urek et al., 2016). The pathogenesis of CD is currently thought to be the result of an intense inflammatory response to the commensal gut microbiome in genetically susceptible individuals. Data from studies concerning the OMB are few and scarce (Lucas López et al., 2017).

Docktor et al. (2012) examined tongue and buccal brushings from patients with CD and UC as well as healthy controls. The researchers presented evidence to suggest that the OMB is uniquely altered in patients with CD. They mainly demonstrated a marked decrease in overall microbial diversity in CD. Furthermore, a significant reduction of the levels of *Fusobacteria* and *Firmicutes* and an increase in the level of *Bacteroidetes* was noted in tongue samples of patients with CD compared with those from patients with UC or healthy subjects.

Said et al. (2014) studied the composition of salivary microbiota of patients with CD and UC as well as healthy controls. They demonstrated a significant decrease in *Proteobacteria* with a simultaneous increase in *Bacteroidetes*. The genera *Streptococcus*, *Prevotella*, *Neisseria*, *Haemophilus*, *Veillonella* and *Gemella* strongly contributed to dysbiosis of the salivary microbiota of patients. Moreover, analysis of immunological biomarkers of the saliva of patients concluded that the observed dysbiosis was associated with elevated inflammatory response of several cytokines with depleted lysozyme, some of which showed a powerful correlation with certain relatively abundant bacterial species.

# Systemic lupus erythematosus

SLE is a multisystemic autoimmune disease that affects a number of organs, including the skin, joints, blood vessels, heart, kidneys and lungs. SLE primarily affects women of reproductive age. It is characterized by great diversity and heterogeneity in terms of clinical picture and course (Golder and Hoi, 2017). Oral manifestations are common and may occur in >40% of cases (Menzies et al., 2018). Distinctive self-antigens attacked by antibodies include nuclear peptides, nucleosomes, double-stranded DNA and Ro peptide (known as SSA), which is considered to be directly related to SS (Goldblatt and O'Neill, 2013).

Many studies have been conducted to explore the role of intestinal microbiome in the pathogenesis of SLE (Luo et al., 2017; Mu et al., 2017). However, the potential participation of the OMB in the disease still remains elusive. Corrêa et al. (2017) studied the microbial composition of subgingival dental plaque in patients with SLE by using 16S rRNA sequencing. The researchers found P. nigrescens to be correlated with higher values of the SLE severity index, P. denticola to be correlated with increased neutrophil levels and P. melaninogenica to be correlated with increased serum C-reactive protein levels in patients with SLE. Fabbri et al. (2014) evaluated the impact of periodontitis treatment on disease activity of SLE in patients under immunosuppressive therapy and found that controlling periodontal inflammation seems to abbreviate the immunosuppressive therapeutic response, supporting the hypothesis that periodontitis may be an important factor in the maintenance of the inflammatory response in SLE. On the contrary, De Araújo Navas et al. (2012) examined oral rinse samples from patients with SLE and healthy controls to evaluate the presence of Staphylococcus spp., Enterobacteria and Pseudomonas spp and concluded that there is no difference in the frequency and microorganism levels between the two groups.

The frequent involvement of the oral mucosa in the clinical manifestation of the disease indicates that the local oral microenvironment may participate in the development of SLE or contribute to systemic involvement through the production of circulating autoantibodies against oral microbial products (Nikitakis et al., 2017). However, there is a need for further investigation to extract safe data on the disease.

#### Psoriasis

Psoriasis is a chronic, immune-mediated, inflammatory, multisystem disease with a prevalence of approximately 2% of the Western population. The disease can appear at any age but usually displays a peak incidence between 15 and 30 years of age and a later peak incidence between 50 and 60 years of age (Gudjonsson and Elder, 2007). Psoriasis predominantly affects the skin and joints, but the prevalence of oral manifestations differs among studies, with a prevalence of fissured tongue ranging from 9.8% to 47.5% and of geographic tongue between 5.6% and 18.1% (Picciani et al., 2016). Several risk factors are involved in its etiopathogenesis, including infections. The pathobiological mechanisms underlying psoriasis are not fully understood, but the driving factor appears to be an intense activation of the immune system (Kim et al., 2010).

Over the past few years, several cross-sectional studies have shown a 1.55-fold higher risk of periodontitis and increased periodontal disease activity in patients with psoriasis compared with healthy controls (Ungprasert et al., 2017). Even though the exact mechanism behind the increased risk is unknown, several possible explanations have been reported. One hypothesis refers to the common inflammatory mechanisms between psoriasis and periodontitis; an exaggerated immune response to the microbiota at the epithelial surfaces is observed in both diseases, which might suggest a shared genetic background that affects dendritic cells, T cells, keratinocytes and Toll-like receptor expression (Fernández et al., 2019; Kim and Krueger, 2015; Wilensky et al., 2014). Another hypothesis involves the activation of Th-17 cells and increased expression of interleukin 17, a protagonist in the pathogenesis of psoriasis, induced by bacteria involved in periodontal infection and their products (Blauvelt and Chiricozzi, 2018; Ohlrich et al., 2009).

Toward this direction, some rare cases report the regression of cutaneous psoriatic lesions after periodontal treatment (Akazawa et al., 2006; Murai et al., 2012). Periodontal infection control might be an attractive future therapeutic intervention for psoriasis.

Moreover, Belstrøm et al. (2020) studied stimulated saliva samples from patients with psoriasis, patients with periodontitis and controls without oral lesions by means of NGS of the 16S rRNA gene. They found that some bacterial taxa differentiated the salivary microbiota in patients with psoriasis from that of patients with periodontitis and orally healthy controls. This could mean that a distinct OMB contributes to the disease pathogenesis or, conversely, an impact of the disease itself on the composition of the OMB. Further investigation is required to clarify the relationship between psoriasis and OMB.

#### Microbiome and autoimmune bullous diseases

The category of immune bullous diseases includes entities characterized by the production of autoantibodies that target components of epithelial cells of the skin and mucosa (including oral mucosa), leading to destruction of epithelial bonding, which manifests clinically as the formation of blisters. These diseases comprise pemphigus, mucous membrane pemphigoid, bullous pemphigoid, linear immunoglobulin A bullous dermatosis and epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. In each of the diseases, different selfantigens are targeted by autoantibodies (Baum et al., 2014). Remarkable progress has been achieved regarding the identification of genetic risk factors for developing these diseases, but no environmental agent has been conclusively identified. Studies on the effect of the microbiome on disease inducement and manifestation are few and far between. Miodovnik et al. (2017) compared the composition of the skin microbiome of patients with bullous pemphigoid and healthy individuals. The authors reported that the microbial phylum composition differs between the perilesional sites of patients with bullous pemphigoid and the same anatomic locations of healthy persons. In addition, the researchers reported the existence of a distinct cutaneous microbiome profile that correlated with bullous pemphigoid, which further strengthens the significance of commensal-host interaction on the immune mechanisms. Furthermore, the results of this research raise the possibility that the cutaneous microbiome may contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease.

Ellebrecht et al. (2016) observed that 20% of immunized mice with circulating autoantibodies of epidermolysis bullosa acquisita remained healthy. The immunization was conducted under identical genetic and environmental conditions. The mice that did not develop clinical disease showed a significantly higher richness and distinctly clustered diversity of the skin microbiome before immunization. This observation indicates that, regardless of the presence of circulating autoantibodies, the composition of the skin microbiome plays a significant role in the manifestation of the disease. The dominance of certain bacterial species appears to be protective against disease manifestation.

# Techniques of microbiome study

The study of the human microbiome can be conducted by several means. Forty years ago, the establishment of Sanger sequencing was revolutionary because complete genome sequences could be decoded for the first time. This sequencing technique by synthesis served as a gold standard for genome analysis for a long time. Nevertheless, the need for less cost and time to process DNA segments, with larger throughput and less human resources, led to the gradual development and introduction of NGS technologies. These methods have constituted a breakthrough in DNA sequencing. They offer parallel, massive, deep sequencing of entire genomes at unprecedented speed and low cost. Hence, they represent the revolution in genomic research and have many clinical applications. Microbiology has gained a dramatic broadening of the spectrum of microbial genomes. There have been a number of sequencing platforms during the evolution of this technology belonging to either the first, second, or third generation of NGS (Vincent et al., 2017).

# Interaction between microbiome and sex hormones

Women have a more intense immune response to foreign and self-antigens than men. This robust immune response leads to a higher tendency for women to develop autoimmune diseases, which might suggest a role of sex hormones in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity. Interestingly, 80% of autoimmune disease occurs in women. The strongest sex bias is observed in SS, SLE, autoimmune thyroid disease and scleroderma, where the ratio of women to men is 7:1 to 10:1. Disease severity and clinical course, response to therapy and overall survival rate may also differ between the two sexes (Ortona et al., 2016).

Sex hormones (estrogens androgens and progesterone) can connect to specific receptors on immune cells and contribute to the regulation of the development and function of the immune system (Klein and Flanagan, 2016). The exact molecular mechanisms of how female hormones regulate the innate and adaptive, humoral and cell-mediated immune responses are not yet fully elucidated, but studies have shown that they control homeostasis, gene expression and signaling processes in T and B lymphocytes to influence their function. Deregulation of these mechanisms may have an impact on autoimmune disease. Androgens and progesterone are considered immunosuppressive and therefore play a protective role in autoimmunity, whereas estrogens are potent stimulators and therefore play a pathogenic role (Moulton, 2018).

Some studies indicate sex hormone–dependent microbiota composition in mice intestinal content in relation to age. Puberty appears to affect the male microbiota composition, which becomes less diverse than the female microbiota, which remains similar to the primary one of young mice. Importantly, a comparison of male, female and castrated male microbiota demonstrated that sex hormones rather than X chromosome–associated factors were important for the change in microbiota composition (Steegenga et al., 2014; Yurkovetskiy et al., 2013).

Moreover, a role of gut microbiota in the sex bias in autoimmunity has been revealed by different studies in animal models. Markle et al. (2013) demonstrated that early life microbial exposure alters sex hormone levels and contributes to the development of autoimmune disease in individuals with a high genetic risk. Under colonized settings, men and women either had distinct microbial communities that induced different hormonal responses or responded in a sex-specific manner to an identical community. The researchers showed that commensal colonization regulated testosterone serum levels and protected male mice from autoimmunity. Furthermore, the transfer of gut microbiota from adult males to immature females resulted in elevated testosterone levels, reduced inflammation and autoantibody production and robust protection against autoimmunity.

Thus, there appears to be a reciprocal interaction between microbiota and sex hormones to modify the risk of development and the course of the autoimmune disease progression. This interaction could explain the female predilection of the majority of autoimmune entities. OMB manipulations could provoke testosterone-dependent protection from these autoimmune diseases in a genetically high-risk individual.

#### Microbiome shift and therapeutic interventions

Conclusively targeting dysbiosis, which apparently contributes to the onset and progression of autoimmunity, could offer alternative therapeutic approaches for these diseases. Diet interventions, functional foods (e.g., probiotics and prebiotics) and fecal microbiota transplantation are some of the efforts that have been made to correct the malfunction of the disturbed microbiome in patients with SS, RA, SLE, BD and psoriasis to ameliorate disease severity and course (Chen et al., 2017; De Luca and Shoenfeld, 2019; Tasli et al., 2006). Given the crucial role of the OMB in a number of autoimmune diseases, altering its composition in favor of benefic bacteria could offer a very promising future concerning the specific nosological entities. Future studies will be required to investigate the relationship between oral mammalian and commensals to develop novel immunomodulatory factors to suppress autoimmunity.

# Conclusion

There are a growing number of studies concerning the role of the microbiome in immunity equilibrium loss. Substantial evidence connects gut dysbiosis to a significant number of autoimmune diseases and the OMB has been linked to some of these diseases, such as, SS, SLE, RA, BD, CD and psoriasis. Herein, summarized data show the impact of the OMB on those diseases. Identifying how dysbiosis of the OMB affects the onset and development of these diseases is the big challenge. To date, whether the observed changes of the microbiota result as a consequence of the disease process or a trigger to its onset remains enigmatic. The evolution of molecular methods of microbiome analysis, such as NGS, can contribute remarkably to the in-depth investigation of the OMB down to the species level and can provide more accurate information for microbial changes in health and disease. Collectively, although an unambiguous role of the OMB in autoimmunity has been demonstrated in studies, the underlying detailed mechanisms are not entirely elucidated. In general, the OMB may influence the host immune system through Toll-like receptors, molecular mimicry, epitope spreading and antigen persistence.

Regarding the predisposition of women to the majority of autoimmune diseases, it is important to focus on the axis of microbiome-sex hormones-autoimmunity, where various interactions take place. Novel treatment approaches are currently under development to promote the growth of specific strains of benefic bacteria. Prebiotics, probiotics and diet changes may constitute a very promising tool for modulating the OMB synthesis in favor of immunity protection.

With regard to bullous autoimmune diseases, it is clear that further research needs to be conducted to determine whether the microbe and even the OMB has any effect on autoimmunity. The authors are completing a new study on the role of the OMB on Pemphigus Vulgaris and thereby contributing to the large volume of data that emerges from the analysis of the human microbiome concerning disease status.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None.

# Funding

None.

# **Study Approval**

The author(s) confirm that any aspect of the work covered in this manuscript that has involved human patients has been conducted with the ethical approval of all relevant bodies.

#### References

- Ahn J, Chen CY, Hayes RB. Oral microbiome and oral and gastrointestinal cancer risk. Cancer Causes Control 2012;23(3):399–404.
- Akazawa H, Nishimura F, Maeda H, Takashiba S, Mine A, Maekawa K, et al. Regression of pustulosis palmaris et plantaris by periodontal treatment in a subject with severe periodontitis. Int J Dermatol 2006;45(12):1420–2.
- Alcaraz LD, Belda-Ferre P, Cabrera-Rubio R, Romero H, Simon-Soro A, Pignatelli M, et al. Identifying a healthy oral microbiome through metagenomics. Clin Microbiol Infect 2012;18:54–7.
- Almstahl A, Wikstrom M, Stenberg I, Jakobsson A, Fagerberg-Mohlin B. Oral microbiota associated with hyposalivation of different origins. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2003;18(1):1–8.
- Alpsoy E. New evidence-based treatment approach in Behçet's disease. Patholog Res Int 2012;2012:1–11.
- De Araújo Navas EAF, Sato El, Pereira DFA, Back-Brito GN, Ishikawa JA, Jorge AOC, et al. Oral microbial colonization in patients with systemic lupus erythematous: correlation with treatment and disease activity. Lupus 2012;21(9):969–77.
- Baum S, Sakka N, Artsi O, Trau H, Barzilai A. Diagnosis and classification of autoimmune blistering diseases. Autoimmun Rev 2014;13(4-5):482–9.
- Belstrøm D, Eiberg JM, Enevold C, Grande MA, Jensen CAJ, Skov L, et al. Salivary microbiota and inflammation-related proteins in patients with psoriasis. Oral Dis 2020;26(3):677–87.
- Blauvelt A, Chiricozzi A. The immunologic role of IL-17 in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis pathogenesis. Clin Rev Allerg Immunol 2018;55(3):379–90.
- Brodin P, Jojic V, Gao T, Bhattacharya S, Angel CL, Furman D, et al. Variation in the human immune system is largely driven by non-heritable influences. Cell 2015;160(1-2):37–47.
- Bulur I, Onder M. Behçet disease: new aspects. Clin Dermatol 2017;35(5):421–34. Carding S, Verbeke K, Vipond DT, Corfe BM, Owen LJ. Dysbiosis of the gut microbiota in disease. Microb Ecol Health Dis 2015;26:26191.
- Chen YH, Wu CS, Chao YH, Lin CC, Tsai HY, Li YR, et al. Lactobacillus pentosus GMNL-77 inhibits skin lesions in imiquimod-induced psoriasis-like mice. J Food Drug Anal 2017;25(3):559–66.

- Coit P, Mumcu G, Ture-Ozdemir F, Unal AU, Alpar U, Bostanci N, et al. Sequencing of 16S rRNA reveals a distinct salivary microbiome signature in Behçet's disease. Clin Immunol 2016;169:28–35.
- Coit P, Sawalha AH. The human microbiome in rheumatic autoimmune diseases: a comprehensive review. Clin Immunol 2016;170:70–9.
- Consolandi C, Turroni S, Emmi G, Severgnini M, Fiori J, Peano C, et al. Behçet's syndrome patients exhibit specific microbiome signature. Autoimmun Rev 2015;14(4):269–76.
- Corrêa JD, Calderaro DC, Ferreira GA, Mendonça SMS, Fernandes GR, Xiao E, et al. Subgingival microbiota dysbiosis in systemic lupus erythematosus: association with periodontal status. Microbiome 2017;5(1).
- Cusick MF, Libbey JE, Fujinami RS. Molecular mimicry as a mechanism of autoimmune disease. Clin Rev Allerg Immunol 2012;42(1):102–11.
- Davis CP. Medical microbiology. 4th ed. Galveston, Texas: University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston; 1996.
- Dewhirst FE, Chen T, Izard J, Paster BJ, Tanner AC, Yu WH, et al. The human oral microbiome. J Bacteriol 2010;192(19):5002–17.
- Docktor MJ, Paster BJ, Abramowicz S, Ingram J, Wang YE, Correll M, et al. Alterations in diversity of the oral microbiome in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2012;18(5):935–42.
- Dong Q, Brulc JM, Iovieno A, Bates B, Garoutte A, Miller D, et al. Diversity of bacteria at healthy human conjunctiva. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011;52(8):5408–13.
- Drago L, Zuccotti GV, Romanò CL, Goswami K, Villafañe JH, Mattina R, et al. Oral-gut microbiota and arthritis: Is there an evidence-based axis? J Clin Med 2019;8 (10):1753.
- Ellebrecht CT, Srinivas G, Bieber K, Banczyk D, Kalies K, Kunzel S, et al. Skin microbiotaassociated inflammation precedes autoantibody induced tissue damage in experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. J Autoimmun 2016;68:14–22.
- Erciyas K, Sezer U, Ustun K, Pehlivan Y, Kisacik B, Senyurt SZ, et al. Effects of periodontal therapy on disease activity and systemic inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis patients. Oral Dis 2013;19(4):394–400.
- Fabbri C, Fuller R, Bonfå E, Guedes LKN, D'Alleva PSR, Borba EF. Periodontitis treatment improves systemic lupus erythematosus response to immunosuppressive therapy. Clin Rheumatol 2014;33(4):505–9.
- Farrell JJ, Zhang L, Zhou H, Chia D, Elashoff D, Akin D, et al. Variations of oral microbiota are associated with pancreatic diseases including pancreatic cancer. Gut 2012;61(4):582–8.
- Fernández A, Cárdenas AM, Astorga J, Veloso P, Alvarado A, Merino P, et al. Expression of Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 and its association with matrix metalloproteinases in symptomatic and asymptomatic apical periodontitis. Clin Oral Investig 2019;23(12):4205–12.
- Fuggle NR, Smith TO, Kaul A, Sofat N. Hand to mouth: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the association between rheumatoid arthritis and periodontitis. Front Immunol 2016;7:80.
- Goldblatt F, O'Neill SG. Clinical aspects of autoimmune rheumatic diseases. Lancet 2013;382(9894):797–808.
- Golder V, Hoi A. Systemic lupus erythematosus: an update. Med J Aust 2017;206 (5):215-20.
- Goodacre R. Metabolomics of a superorganism. J Nutr 2007;137(1 Suppl):259S–66S. Goodson JM, Groppo D, Halem S, Carpino E. Is obesity an oral bacterial disease? J Dent Res 2009;88(6):519–23.
- Grice EA, Kong HH, Conlan S, Deming CB, Davis J, Young AC, et al. Topographical and temporal diversity of the human skin microbiome. Science 2009;324 (5931):1190–2.
- Gudjonsson JE, Elder JT. Psoriasis: epidemiology. Clin Dermatol 2007;25(6):535–46. Guo Q, Wang Y, Xu D, Nossent J, Pavlos NJ, Xu J. Rheumatoid arthritis: pathological mechanisms and modern pharmacologic therapies. Bone Res 2018;6(1):15.
- H. J. Li Y, Cao Y, Xue J, Zhou X. The oral microbiome diversity and its relation to human diseases. Folia Microbiol (Praha) 2015:60(1):69–80.
- Honda K, Littman DR. The microbiome in infectious disease and inflammation. Annu Rev Immunol 2012:30(1):759–95.
- Human Microbiome Project Consortium. Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. Nature 2012;486(7402):207–14.
- Karczewski J, Poniedziałek B, Adamski Z, Rzymski P. The effects of the microbiota on the host immune system. Autoimmunity 2014;47(8):494–504.
- Kau AL, Ahern PP, Griffin NW, Goodman AL, Gordon JI. Human nutrition, the gut microbiome and the immune system. Nature 2011;474(7351):327–36.
- Kim J, Krueger JG. The immunopathogenesis of psoriasis. Dermatol Clin 2015;33 (1):13–23.
- Kim N, Thrash B, Menter A. Comorbidities in psoriasis patients. Semin Cutan Med Surg 2010;29(1):10–5.
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL. Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 2016;16(10):626–38.
- Konig MF, Abusleme L, Reinholdt J, Palmer RJ, Teles RP, Sampson K, et al. Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans-induced hypercitrullination links periodontal infection to autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. Sci Transl Med 2016;8(369). 369ra176.
- Koren O, Spor A, Felin J, Fak F, Stombaugh J, Tremaroli V, et al. Human oral, gut and plaque microbiota in patients with atherosclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108(Suppl):4592–8.
- Lederberg J, McCray AT. 'Ome sweet 'omics—a genealogical treasury of words. Scientist 2001;15(7):8.
- Lehner T, Lavery E, Smith R, van der Zee R, Mizushima Y, Shinnick T. Association between the 65-kilodalton heat shock protein, Streptococcus sanguis and the corresponding antibodies in Behçet's syndrome. Infect Immun 1991;59 (4):1434–41.

- Ley RE, Peterson DA, Gordon JI. Ecological and evolutionary forces shaping microbial diversity in the human intestine. Cell 2006;124(4):837–48.
- Li M, Zou Y, Jiang Q, Jiang L, Yu Q, Ding X, et al. A preliminary study of the oral microbiota in Chinese patients with Sjögren's syndrome. Arch Oral Biol 2016;70:143–8.
- De Luca F, Shoenfeld Y. The microbiome in autoimmune diseases. Clin Exp Immunol 2019;195(1):74–85.
- Lucas López R, Grande Burgos MJ, Gálvez A, Pérez Pulido R. The human gastrointestinal tract and oral microbiota in inflammatory bowel disease: a state of the science review. APMIS 2017;125(1):3–10.
- Luo XM, Edwards MR, Mu Q, Yu Y, Vieson MD, Reilly CM, et al. Gut microbiota in human systemic lupus erythematosus and a mouse model of lupus. Appl Environ Microbiol 2017;84(4). e02288–17.
- Macia L, Thorburn AN, Binge LC, Marino E, Rogers KE, Maslowski KM, et al. Microbial influences on epithelial integrity and immune function as a basis for inflammatory diseases. Immunol Rev 2012;245(1):164–76.
- Markle JGM, Frank DN, Mortin-Toth S, Robertson CE, Feazel LM, Rolle-Kampczyk U, et al. Sex differences in the gut microbiome drive hormone-dependent regulation of autoimmunity. Science 2013;339(6123):1084–8.
- da Silva RM, Caugant DA, Josefsen R, Tronstad L, Olsen I. Characterization of Streptococcus constellatus strains recovered from a brain abscess and periodontal pockets in an immunocompromised patient. J Periodontol 2004;75(12):1720–3.
- Martin DH. The microbiota of the vagina and its influence on women's health and disease. Am J Med Sci 2012;343(1):2–9.
- Mavragani CP, Moutsopoulos HM. Sjogren syndrome. CMAJ 2014;186(15):E579–86. McInnes IB, Schett G. The pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med
- 2011;365(23):2205–19. Menzies S, O'Shea F, Galvin S, Wynne B. Oral manifestations of lupus. Ir J Med Sci 2018;187(1):91–3.
- van der Meulen TA, Harmsen HJM, Bootsma H, Liefers SC, Vich Vila A, Zhernakova A, et al. Dysbiosis of the buccal mucosa microbiome in primary Sjögren's syndrome patients. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2018;57(12):2225–34.
- Mikuls TR, Payne JB, Yu F, Thiele GM, Reynolds RJ, Cannon GW, et al. Periodontitis and Porphyromonas gingivalis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol 2014;66(5):1090–100.
- Miodovnik M, Kunstner A, Langan EA, Zillikens D, Glaser R, Sprecher E, et al. A distinct cutaneous microbiota profile in autoimmune bullous disease patients. Exp Dermatol 2017;26(12):1221–7.
- Mitchell-Lewis D, Engebretson SP, Chen J, Lamster IB, Papapanou PN. Periodontal infections and pre-term birth: early findings from a cohort of young minority women in New York. Eur J Oral Sci 2001;109(1):34–9.
- Moulton VR. Sex hormones in acquired immunity and autoimmune disease. Front Immunol 2018;9:2279.
- Mu Q, Zhang H, Liao X, Lin K, Liu H, Edwards MR, et al. Control of lupus nephritis by changes of gut microbiota. Microbiome 2017;5(1):73.
- Muhvić-Ūrek M, Tomac-Stojmenović M, Mijandrusic-Sincic B. Oral pathology in inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 2016;22(25):5655–67.
- Murai O, Sasaki D, Ando Y, Fujimura A, Oikawa H, Suwa N, et al. Improvement of pustulosis palmaris et plantaris by periodontal infection control in a patient with chronic periodontitis. Clin Lab 2012;58(3–4):323–7.
- Myasoedova E, Crowson CS, Kremers HM, Therneau TM, Gabriel SE. Is the incidence of rheumatoid arthritis rising?: Results from Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1955-2007. Arthritis Rheum 2010;62(6):1576–82.
- Mylonakis E, Calderwood SB. Infective endocarditis in adults. N Engl J Med 2001;345(18):1318-30.
- Narikawa S, Suzuki Y, Takahashi M, Furukawa A, Sakane T, Mizushima Y. Streptococcus oralis previously identified as uncommon 'Streptococcus sanguis' in Behçet's disease. Arch Oral Biol 1995;40(8):685–90.
- Nikitakis NG, Papaioannou W, Sakkas LI, Kousvelari E. The autoimmunity-oral microbiome connection. Oral Dis 2017;23(7):828–39.
- Ohlrich EJ, Cullinan MP, Seymour GJ. The immunopathogenesis of periodontal disease. Aust Dent J 2009;54(Suppl 1):S2–S10.
- Ortona E, Pierdomici M, Maseli A, Veroni C, Aloisi F, Shoenfeld Y. Sex-based differences in autoimmune diseases. Ann lst Super Sanita 2016;52(2):205–12.
- de Paiva CS, Jones DB, Stern ME, Bian F, Moore QL, Corbiere S, et al. Altered mucosal microbiome diversity and disease severity in Sjogren syndrome. Sci Rep 2016;6:23561.
- Paster BJ, Olsen I, Aas JA, Dewhirst FE. The breadth of bacterial diversity in the human periodontal pocket and other oral sites. Periodontol 2000 2006;42 (1):80–7.
- Picciani BLS, Domingos TA, Teixeira-Souza T, Batista Dos Santos VC, de Sousa Gonzaga HF, Cardoso-Oliveira J, et al. Geographic tongue and psoriasis: Clinical, histopathological, immunohistochemical and genetic correlation – a literature review. An Bras Dermatol 2016;91(4):410–21.

- Pozhitkov AE, Beikler T, Flemmig T, Noble PA. High-throughput methods for analysis of the human oral microbiome. Periodontol 2011;55(1):70–86.
- Proal AD, Albert PJ, Marshall TG. The human microbiome and autoimmunity. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2013;25(2):234–40.
- Rogers GB, Carroll MP, Serisier DJ, Hockey PM, Jones G, Kehagia V, Connett GJ, Bruce KD. Use of 16S rRNA gene profiling by terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis to compare bacterial communities in sputum and mouthwash samples from patients with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol 2006;44 (7):2601–4.
- Rusthen S, Kristoffersen AK, Young A, Galtung HK, Petrovski B, Palm, et al. Dysbiotic salivary microbiota in dry mouth and primary Sjögren's syndrome patients. PLoS One 2019;14(6):e0218319.
- Said HS, Suda W, Nakagome S, Chinen H, Oshima K, Kim S, et al. Dysbiosis of salivary microbiota in inflammatory bowel disease and its association with oral immunological biomarkers. DNA Res 2014;21(1):15–25.
- Sakkas LI, Bogdanos DP, Katsiari C, Platsoucas CD. Anti-citrullinated peptides as autoantigens in rheumatoid arthritis—relevance to treatment. Autoimmun Rev 2014;13(11):1114–20.
- Scher JU, Ubeda C, Equinda M, Khanin R, Buischi Y, Viale A, et al. Periodontal disease and the oral microbiota in new-onset rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2012;64(10):3083–94.
- Schiff E, Pick N, Oliven A, Odeh M. Multiple liver abscesses after dental treatment. J Clin Gastroenterol 2003;36(4):369–71.
- Seoudi N, Bergmeier LA, Drobniewski F, Paster B, Fortune F. The oral mucosal and salivary microbial community of Behcet's syndrome and recurrent aphthous stomatitis. J Oral Microbiol 2015;7(1):27150.
- Shinozaki S, Moriyama M, Hayashida JN, Tanaka A, Maehara T, Ieda S, et al. Close association between oral Candida species and oral mucosal disorders in patients with xerostomia. Oral Dis 2012;18(7):667–72.
- Siddiqui H, Chen T, Aliko A, Mydel PM, Jonsson R, Olsen I. Microbiological and bioinformatics analysis of primary Sjögren's syndrome patients with normal salivation. J Oral Microbiol 2016;8(1):31119.
- Socransky SS, Haffajee AD, Cugini MA, Smith C, Kent Jr RL. Microbial complexes in subgingival plaque. J Clin Periodontol 1998;25(2):134–44.
- Spor A, Koren O, Ley R. Unravelling the effects of the environment and host genotype on the gut microbiome. Nat Rev Microbiol 2011;9(4):279–90.
- Steegenga WT, Mischke M, Lute C, Boekschoten MV, Pruis MGM, Lendvai A, et al. Sexually dimorphic characteristics of the small intestine and colon of prepubescent C57BL/6 mice. Biol Sex Differ 2014;5(1):11.
- Szymula A, Rosenthal J, Szczerba BM, Bagavant H, Fu SM, Deshmukh US. T cell epitope mimicry between Sjogren's syndrome antigen A (SSA)/Ro60 and oral, gut, skin and vaginal bacteria. Clin Immunol 2014;152(1–2):1–9.
- Tamboli CP, Neut C, Desreumaux P, Colombel JF. Dysbiosis in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2004;53(1):1–4.
- Tasli L, Mat C, De Simone C, Yazici H. Lactobacilli lozenges in the management of oral ulcers of Behçet's syndrome. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2006;24(5 Suppl 42): S83–6.
- Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Hamady M, Fraser-Liggett CM, Knight R, Gordon JI. The human microbiome project. Nature 2007;449(7164):804–10.
- Ungprasert P, Wijarnpreecha K, Wetter DA. Periodontitis and risk of psoriasis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017;31 (5):857–62.
- Ursell LK, Metcalf JL, Parfrey LW, Knight R. Defining the human microbiome. Nutr Rev 2012;70(Suppl 1):S38–44.
- Veauthier B, Hornecker JR. Crohn's disease: diagnosis and management. Am Fam Physician 2018;98(11):661–9.
- Vincent AT, Derome N, Boyle B, Culley AI, Charette SJ. Next-generation sequencing (NGS) in the microbiological world: How to make the most of your money. J Microbiol Methods 2017;138:60–71.
- Wade WG. The oral microbiome in health and disease. Pharmacol Res 2013;69 (1):137-43.
- Wilensky A, Segev H, Mizraji G, Shaul Y, Capucha T, Shacham M, Hovav A-H. Dendritic cells and their role in periodontal disease. Oral Dis 2014;20 (2):119–26.
- Yokota K, Hayashi S, Araki Y, Isogai E, Kotake S, Yoshikawa K, et al. Characterization of Streptococcus sanguis isolated from patients with Behçet's disease. Microbiol Immunol 1995;39(9):729–32.
- Yurkovetskiy L, Burrows M, Khan AA, Graham L, Volchkov P, Becker L, et al. Gender bias in autoimmunity is influenced by microbiota. Immunity 2013;39 (2):400–12.
- Zhang X, Zhang D, Jia H, Feng Q, Wang D, Liang D, et al. The oral and gut microbiomes are perturbed in rheumatoid arthritis and partly normalized after treatment. Nat Med 2015;21(8):895–905.